STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County
J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

OCT 23 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Opinion No. 2015-UP-382 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 7/29/2015)

11-GS-23-06315-06316

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NATHANIEL BERNARD BEEKS,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002165

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err by finding that any error in the jury instructions that words alone would not produce sufficient legal provocation, and the trial judge's refusal to instruct the jury that legally sufficient provocation includes a very emotional argument, was harmless in light of the Court of Appeals' finding that no voluntary manslaughter charge was necessary in the case because the argument between Petitioner and the deceased did not amount to sufficient legal provocation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 16, 2011, a Greenville County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder (2011-GS-23-6315) and grand larceny (2011-GS-23-6316). R. 254. The prosecution, represented by Judy Munson, called the case for trial before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, and a jury on August 12, 2013. Randy Chambers represented Petitioner. R. 1. At the conclusion of the state's case, Judge Hayes granted Petitioner's motion for a directed verdict on the charge of grand larceny because the prosecution failed to present evidence as to the value of the car, which was allegedly stolen. R. 173, line 21 – R. 174, line 8. Judge Hayes indicated there was sufficient evidence to send the lesser-included charge of petty larceny to the jury, however. R. 174, lines 9 – 18. Thereafter, the prosecution moved to amend the indictment to a petit larceny. R. 174, lines 19 – 25. When Petitioner did not object, Judge Hayes granted the motion to amend the indictment. R. 175, lines 5 – 11. The jury found Petitioner guilty of murder and guilty of petit larceny. R. 228, lines 15 – 21. Judge Hayes sentenced Petitioner to life imprisonment for murder, and to thirty days' imprisonment for petit larceny. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 237, line 23 – R. 238, line 2; R. 256.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal, which was perfected. On July 29, 2015, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence in an unpublished opinion. State v. Beeks, Op. No. 2015-UP-382 (S.C. Ct. App. July 29, 2015); App. 1-3. Specifically, the Court held Petitioner was not entitled to a charge on voluntary manslaughter. The Court based its opinion on evidence in the record that Appellant and the deceased had an argument regarding the deceased's decision to end their romantic relationship. App. 1-3. Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on August 13, 2015. App. 4-13. The Court of Appeals denied the petition on September 16, 2015. App. 14-15. Petitioner now files a petition for writ of certiorari in this Court.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred by finding that any error in the jury instructions that words alone would not produce sufficient legal provocation, and the trial judge's refusal to instruct the jury that legally sufficient provocation includes a very emotional argument, was harmless in light of the Court of Appeals' finding that no voluntary manslaughter charge was necessary in the case because the argument between Petitioner and the deceased did not amount to sufficient legal provocation.

Relevant facts

The state's case against Petitioner

Petitioner and Marsha Smith, the deceased, had been romantically involved since 1999. R. 11, line 22 – R. 12, line 6; R. 90, lines 1-6. Darlene Bartee, the deceased's coworker, testified that the deceased had met someone new - a love interest - shortly before her death. R. 59, lines 9-20. On the Thursday before her death, the deceased and Bartee discussed how the deceased would end her relationship with Petitioner. R. 60, line 25 – R. 61, line 10.

On Friday, April 22, 2011, Petitioner and the deceased were joking and getting along well according to the deceased's daughter, Faith Smith. R. 30, lines 8-25. On Saturday, Petitioner and the deceased visited in the home of the James Crawford. R. 49, lines 8-18. According to Crawford, something the deceased said to Petitioner "triggered him off something." Petitioner jumped off the couch and walked out the front door. Petitioner returned and engaged in additional conversation with the deceased. Petitioner then threw a beer under the coffee table and left again. Petitioner was very upset and had "sweat popping off him." R. 50, lines 10 – R. 51, line 21.

On Saturday night, Smith arrived to the home she shared with the deceased. When she arrived, Smith observed Petitioner leave the home, get into the deceased's car, and drive away.

R. 14, line 17 – R. 16, line 13. When Smith entered the home, she found her mother dead and the home in disarray. R. 16, line 20 – R. 17, line 18.

Darron Montgomery grew up with Petitioner. R. 93, lines 6-20. Montgomery and Petitioner discussed the deceased's death while the two were incarcerated in the detention center. R. 93, line 25 – R. 94, line 5. Petitioner told Montgomery that he and the deceased were in a heated argument. When the deceased "wouldn't shut up," Petitioner grabbed her and "just choked her." R. 94, line 24 – R. 95, line 3; R. 102, lines 20-23. Although Montgomery did not know why they were arguing, he knew the argument took place at the house. R. 96, lines 16-21.

Petitioner had fresh scratches on his face when he was arrested on April 28, 2011. R. 129, line 22 – R. 130, line 6. When the arresting officer, Detective David Garrison, asked about the scratches, Petitioner explained the deceased had "slapped him or punched him or hit him or somehow struck him to cause the scratches on his face." R. 133, line 12 – R. 134, line 6. Petitioner told the arresting officer that the deceased told him she was seeing another man during their argument. Petitioner "snapped, ... grabbed her, threw her to the floor and started choking her." R. 131, line 18 – R. 132, line 2.

According to the pathologist, the deceased died as a result of manual strangulation. R. 165, lines 17-19. The deceased likely lost consciousness within twenty seconds and expired within a minute. R. 168, line 23 – R. 169, line 8. The bruising pattern on the deceased's neck was consistent with the assailant coming from the front. R. 169, lines 11-21.

Closing arguments

In the prosecutor's closing argument, she asked the jury to decide whether the evidence showed a man "shattered in grief over the loss of the relationship" or acting with malice. R. 196, lines 3-6. She asked the jury if the injuries suffered by the deceased were the result of "the

actions of somebody just snapping” or “the actions of someone committing an intentional, wrongful act without just cause or excuse.” R. 196, lines 12-14. The prosecutor asked the jury what did the deceased do that would provide sufficient legal provocation to classify her death as manslaughter. R. 198, lines 16-23. After giving a litany of examples such as being wrapped in the arms of another man, breaking off an engagement, being pregnant with another man’s baby, looking at “kiddie porn” on a computer, or killing someone’s pet, the prosecutor argued the deceased did not do anything that equaled sufficient legal provocation. R. 199, lines 1-11. The prosecutor argued to the jury that Petitioner and the deceased had “a big ole fight.” She pointed to the deceased’s missing wig, broken fingernail, abrasions on her elbow and face, and two scratches on Petitioner to support her inference that the two had fought prior to the deceased’s death. R. 203, lines 8-17.

In closing, defense counsel argued that he did not intend to kill the deceased. R. 205, lines 4-6. Petitioner informed the jury that the only issue was whether he choked the deceased to death with malice or “was there provocation such that he was provoked to a sudden heat and passion.” R. 205, lines 17-22. Petitioner argued that involvement in a physical altercation, a threat, and being involved in “a very emotional type of argument” were examples of legal provocation. The evidence showed that he and the deceased were engaged in a very emotional type of argument. The “very narrow issue” for the jury to decide was whether Petitioner was provoked such that he lost the reason a person of ordinary prudence and rationality would have and did he act with sudden heat of passion. R. 206, lines 6-17.

Petitioner disputed the prosecution’s argument that the relationship between the deceased and Petitioner was not “much of a relationship” by pointing out the two had been involved since 1999. R. 206, lines 18-25. Petitioner argued that he was moved to “sudden heat and passion by

being told that she didn't want to see him anymore. And that she wanted to date somebody else." R. 208, lines 13-19. Petitioner argued "somebody acting with that kind of passion, you lose control of yourself. You snap." R. 211, lines 16-24. Petitioner elaborated: "And then confronted with the loss of this relationship and the thought of her being with someone else, in the midst of this very emotional argument, apparently he was getting physical even before he grabbed her and choked her. He snapped. He was provoked with sudden heat and passion." R. 214, lines 8-13.

Charge Conference

During the charge conference, Judge Hayes informed the parties that when instructing the jury concerning voluntary manslaughter, he would explain that sufficient legal provocation was a necessary element. His charge would explain:

Sufficient legal provocation must be the type that would make a person of ordinary reason and caution to become enraged and to lose control temporarily. The provocation needed for voluntary manslaughter, must come from some act of or related to the victim. Words alone, however vulgar or insulting are not enough to be legal provocation. Where death is caused by the use of a deadly weapon, the words must be accompanied by some overt, threatening act which would have produced the heat of passion.

R. 182, lines 2-11. Petitioner objected to the charge wherein the judge said "words alone are not enough. It has to be -- there has to be an accompanied act." Petitioner argued that "a very emotional argument" would satisfy the requirement of legal provocation, but the charge as given required something more than a verbal argument. R. 183, line 23 - R. 184, line 6. Petitioner argued that the judge's instruction informed the jury that an argument alone could not provide legal provocation. R. 185, lines 15-21. The prosecution *agreed* with Petitioner's argument. The prosecutor explained "these weren't just mere words. These were words that had effect." R. 185, line 24 - R. 186, line 12.

The evidence showed that the deceased had a new man in her life and told Petitioner about her new relationship during the course of their argument that precipitated her death. R. 187, line 15 – R. 188, line 5. Petitioner argued the lack of evidence that the deceased “didn’t hit him, she didn’t spit at him, she didn’t really do anything to him other than say something to him” coupled with the judge’s instruction that words alone were insufficient to satisfy the element of legal provocation of manslaughter would leave the jury unable to find the defendant guilty of manslaughter. R. 188, lines 6-17.

Petitioner provided the court with a suggested instruction. R. 239. Specifically, he asked the judge to charge the jury:

A sufficient legal provocation is one that would cause a person of ordinary reason and prudence to become provoked and experience sudden heat and passion. A sufficient legal provocation need not overpower knowledge, rationality, and volition. Instead, it need only be sufficient to disturb or upset reason and render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection.

By way of example, and only by way of example, provocation that is legally sufficient to negate malice includes conduct: (6) like very emotional arguments.

R. 239. Petitioner distinguished South Carolina case law providing that when death is caused by a deadly weapon, words alone are insufficient to constitute legal provocation. Additionally, Petitioner cited controlling case law to support his position that a very emotional argument provides legally sufficient provocation. R. 191, line 2 – R. 192, line 15.

The judge denied Petitioner’s request. R. 193, lines 7-20; R. 194, lines 5-9. The trial judge stated that the charge as a whole was proper and he would not change it to include the request made. R. 194, lines 11-16.¹

Jury Instructions

¹ Petitioner renewed his objection at the conclusion of the jury instructions. R. 227, lines 13-16.

Concerning the elements of murder, the trial judge instructed the jury that “[i]nferred malice may also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon.” After giving the jury examples of deadly weapons, the judge explained:

A hand or a fist is not normally considered a deadly weapon. However, under some circumstances, depending on the manner and the means of its use, the wounds inflicted and other relevant facts, a hand[] or fist may be considered a deadly weapon. It is for you to decide in this case, beyond a reasonable doubt whether or not a hand or fist has been used as a deadly weapon.

R. 223, lines 12-19. Then the judge instructed the jury on the elements of voluntary manslaughter:

To prove voluntary manslaughter, the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant took the life of another in the sudden heat and passion, based on sufficient legal provocation. ... Sudden heat and passion may, for a time, affect a person’s self-control and temporarily disturb a person’s reason. The sudden heat of passion must be the type that would make an ordinary person unable to coolly reflect on his actions and would produce an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.

Sufficient legal provocation must be the type that would make a person of ordinary reason and caution, become enraged and to lose control temporarily. The provocation needed for voluntary manslaughter, must come from some act of or related to the victim. Words alone, however vulgar or insulting are not enough to be legal provocation. Where death is caused by the use of a deadly weapon, the words must be accompanied by some overt, threatening act which could have produced the heat of passion.

The exercise of a legal right, no matter how offensive it is to another, is never sufficient legal provocation for voluntary manslaughter.

R. 223, line 24 – R. 224, line 5.

Discussion

A jury charge to a lesser-included offense is required when the evidence warrants such an instruction. State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 606, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006). South Carolina law mandates a jury instruction on a lesser-included offense when there is *any* evidence from which it could be inferred that the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed. State v. Watson, 349 S.C. 372, 375, 563 S.E.2d 336, 337 (2002); see also State v. Gourdine, 322

S.C. 396, 398, 472 S.E.2d 241, 241 (1996). In other words, the evidence must allow “a rational inference” that the defendant committed the lesser offense. Geiger, 370 S.C. at 607, 635 S.E.2d at 673. In determining whether such a rational inference exists the court must examine the totality of evidence. Id. As this Court explained in State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 233, 522 S.E.2d 845, 854 (Ct. App. 1999), “[i]n order to justify a charge of a lesser included offense, the evidence must be capable of sustaining either the greater or the lesser offense, depending on the jury’s view of the facts.”

An appellate court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant in determining whether the evidence required a charge of voluntary manslaughter. State v. Gadsden, 314 S.C. 229, 442 S.E.2d 594 (1994). Only when the record contained *no* evidence to support voluntary manslaughter should the trial court decline to charge the jury concerning the lesser-included offense. State v. Cooley, 342 S.C. 63, 67-68, 536 S.E.2d 666, 668-669 (2000). “To warrant the court in eliminating the offense of manslaughter it should very clearly appear that there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter.” State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 214, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009); see also Casey v. State, 305 S.C. 445, 447, 409 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991) (emphasis in original)(holding that in murder cases, trial courts should charge manslaughter unless “there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter”).

Manslaughter is defined by Section 16-3-50 of the South Carolina Code as “the unlawful killing of another without malice, express or implied.” S.C. Code Ann § 16-3-50. Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of another in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 350 S.E.2d 180 (1986); State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 214, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009). This Court made it clear that both of these elements

must be present in order to warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge. See State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010); State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 413, 706 S.E.2d 12, 15 (2011). “The provocation must be such as to render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection and produce an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” Cooley, 342 S.C. at 67, 536 S.E.2d at 668. “Sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation” mitigating felonious killing to manslaughter “must be such as would naturally disturb the sway of reason, and render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection, and produce what, according to human experience, may be called an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 549, 500 S.E.2d 489, 495 (1998) (citing State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 399, 434 S.E.2d 272, 274 (1993)(quotations omitted).

The Court of Appeals quoted selective portions of the testimony by Montgomery and Garrison in arriving at its conclusion that Petitioner was not entitled to a voluntary manslaughter instruction. Specifically, the Court of Appeals pointed to Petitioner’s statement to Garrison that when the deceased told him she was seeing someone else, “he snapped, grabbed the victim, threw her to the floor, and started choking her.” App. 2. Additionally, the Court of Appeals quoted Montgomery’s testimony that Petitioner said he and the deceased were arguing and he grabbed her around the neck “because she ‘wouldn’t shut the f*** up.’” App. 2. The Court of Appeals then concluded that “this argument” between Petitioner and the deceased regarding the deceased’s decision to end their romantic relationship did not “amount to sufficient legal provocation as it would not produce in the mind of an ordinary person ‘the highest degree of exasperation, rage, anger, sudden resentment, or terror.’” App. 2 (quoting State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996)).

In essence, the Court of Appeals concluded that words alone are not sufficient legal provocation *even* when a deadly weapon is *not* used. In addition to arriving at this erroneous legal conclusion, which will be discussed infra, the Court of Appeals neglected to consider the entirety of the record, which cast the argument between the deceased and Petitioner in its proper light – that of sufficient legal provocation.

The Court neglected to consider Garrison’s testimony that Petitioner said the deceased had “slapped him or punched him or hit him or someway struck him to cause the scratches on his face.” R. 133, line 12 – R. 134, line 6. The Court also overlooked other evidence in the record to support Petitioner’s contention that the exchange between Petitioner and the deceased immediately prior to her death supported sufficient legal provocation. First, the deceased’s home was in disarray when her body was discovered. R. 16, line 20 – R. 17, line 18. This was indicative of a physical struggle in addition to a verbal altercation. At any rate, it was indicative of a verbal altercation that involved displacement of items in the home even if the parties did not engage in physical violence. The prosecutor actually argued to the jury that the evidence supported the conclusion that Petitioner and the deceased had a physical altercation.² Although the prosecutor’s argument was not evidence, the prosecutor could only argue the facts in evidence and the reasonable inference drawn from those facts. See State v. Vaughn, 362 S.C. 163, 607 S.E.2d 72 (2004)(holding the prosecutor’s closing argument “must be confined to the evidence in the record and the reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence”). Thus,

² The prosecutor argued to the jury that Appellant and the deceased had “a big ole fight.” She pointed to the deceased’s missing wig, broken fingernail, abrasions on her elbow and face, and two scratches on Appellant to support her inference that the two had fought prior to the deceased’s death. R. 203, lines 8 – 17.

it is clear the evidence before the jury supported the inference that Petitioner and the deceased fought physically prior to her death.

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