STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2015-002165

RECEIVED

NOV 23 2015

THE STATE,

S.C. Supreme Court

Respondent,

vs.

NATHANIEL BERNARD BEEKS,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO
THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 E. North St., Suite 325

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

ARGUMENT

This Court should deny certiorari because the Court of Appeals properly found that Beeks could not complain of error in the jury instructions that words alone would not produce sufficient legal provocation, and the trial judge's refusal to instruct the jury that legally sufficient provocation includes a very emotional argument, since the trial judge erred as a matter of law by submitting the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter, where the record did not support the instruction.

Although the trial judge properly defined “sufficient legal provocation” in the voluntary manslaughter instructions, Respondent submits that this Court deny certiorari because the Court of Appeals properly found (**App. pp. 2-3**) that Beeks could not complain of error in the jury instructions that words alone would not produce sufficient legal provocation, and the trial judge's refusal to instruct the jury that legally sufficient provocation includes a very emotional argument, since the trial judge erred as a matter of law by submitting the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Indeed, the only evidence in the record was that Beeks “snapped” when the victim told Beeks that “she was seeing someone else. ... [A]fter hearing that, “[he] grabbed her, threw her to the floor and started choking her.” **R. pp. 131-32.**

A. The charge conference and the voluntary manslaughter charge.

In the charge conference, the trial judge indicated that he was going to charge voluntary manslaughter and he read his proposed manslaughter instructions to the parties. **R. pp. 181-82.**

In pertinent part, he proposed to give the following definition of “sufficient legal provocation:”

Sufficient legal provocation must be the type that would make a person of ordinary reason and caution to become enraged and to lose control temporarily. The provocation needed for voluntary manslaughter, must come from some act of or related to the victim. Words alone, however vulgar or insulting are not enough to be legal provocation. Where death is caused by the use of a deadly weapon, the words must be accompanied by some overt, threatening act which would have

produced the heat of passion.

The exercise of a legal right, no matter how offense it is to another, is never sufficient legal provocation for voluntary manslaughter.

R. p. 182.¹³

Beeks objected to the language in the instruction that “words alone are not enough. It has to be -- there has to be an accompanied act.” He contended that “a very emotional argument” would satisfy the requirement of legal provocation, but the charge as given required something more than a verbal argument. **R. p. 183, line 23 – p. 184, line 6.** He further maintained that Professor Hubbard’s charge book¹⁴ supported his position that a heated argument could constitute “sufficient legal provocation,” but that the proposed instruction informed the jury that an argument alone could not provide legal provocation. **R. pp. 184-85.** Beeks conceded that the trial judge correctly understood that the State’s position was the victim had not done anything that “properly should have [caused] his ... emotional reaction that resulted in her being killed.” However, he argued that “he gave a statement to the polic[e], which is in evidence, that she did, in fact, tell him that [she had found someone else] during the course of this argument that they were having, and that he snapped.” Also, he pointed to Montgomery’s testimony that she would not “shut up.” He maintained that the trial judge’s proposed instruction that “words alone cannot provide sufficient legal provocation” would erroneously preclude jurors from finding that the homicide was manslaughter. **R. pp. 187-92.** The trial judge agreed to listen to further argument after he accepted a guilty plea the following morning. **R. pp. 188-89.**

¹³ This definition is identical to the definition found in the South Carolina Judicial Department’s *Circuit Court Bench Book: Suggested Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases*, p. 212, which available online at <http://www.sccourts.org/juryCharges/GS%20InstructionsJune2013.pdf> (last visited June 27, 2014).

¹⁴ See F. Patrick Hubbard, *Jury Instruction for Criminal Cases in South Carolina: Defendants’ Requested Instructions*, p. 81 (2nd Ed. 2001).

When court resumed the next day, Beeks claimed that *State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 535 S.E.2d 420 (2000), *State v. Kahan*, 268 S.C. 240, 233 S.E.2d 293 (1977), and the other cases that he submitted as part of Court's Exhibit 1, supported his position. He also submitted a request-to-charge from Hubbard, *Jury Instruction for Criminal Cases in South Carolina*, at p. 81, as part of Court's Exhibit 1. **Court's Exhibit 1, R. p. 239. R. pp. 191-92; 194-95.**

The State indicated that it was satisfied with the trial judge's proposed instruction. **R. p. 192.** The judge overruled Beek's objection and denied the request-to-charge because he found that the proposed instruction that he had read correctly covered the facts presented and encompassed what Beeks wished to argue. **R. pp. 193-94.** The trial judge thereafter defined "sufficient legal provocation for the jury in accordance with the proposed instruction. *See R. p. 224.* Beeks renewed his objection at the conclusion of the jury instructions. **R. p. 227.**

B. Discussion.

The law to be charged to the jury is to be determined by the evidence presented at trial. *State v. Lee*, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 835 (1989). If there is any evidence to warrant a jury instruction, a trial court must, upon request, give the instruction. *State v. Shuler*, 344 S.C. 604, 632, 545 S.E.2d 805, 819 (2001); *State v. Starnes*, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010). In making this determination, the Court views the facts in a light most favorable to the defendant. *State v. Byrd*, 323 S.C. 319, 321, 474 S.E.2d 430, 431 (1996). South Carolina defines "murder" as the "killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (2003).¹⁵

¹⁵ "Malice is the wrongful intent to injure another and indicates a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong." *State v. Wilds*, 355 S.C. 269, 276-77, 584 S.E.2d 138, 142 (Ct.App. 2003); *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 62, 502 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1998) (same). It is the doing of a wrongful act intentionally and without just cause or excuse. *Tate v. State*, 351 S.C. 418, 570 S.E.2d 522 (2002).

On the other hand, voluntary manslaughter is “manslaughter, or the unlawful killing of another without malice, express or implied.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-50 (2003). It has been defined as “the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation.” *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). “A defendant is not entitled to a voluntary manslaughter charge merely because he was in a heat of passion.” *Starnes*, 388 S.C. at 596, 698 S.E.2d at 608. Both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present for the killing to constitute voluntary manslaughter. *Id.*; *State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 101-02, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000).

Voluntary manslaughter mitigates an otherwise felonious killing to manslaughter, and while the elements of passion and provocation need not be of such a degree so as to dethrone reason entirely, or shut out knowledge and volition, they must “be such as would naturally disturb the sway of reason, and render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection, and produce what, according to human experience, may be called an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” *State v. Walker*, 324 S.C. 257, 260, 478 S.E.2d 280, 281 (1996) (citation omitted). If there are no actions by the deceased to constitute legal provocation, a charge on voluntary manslaughter is not required. *State v. Butler*, 277 S.C. 452, 456, 290 S.E.2d 1, 3 (1982), *cert. denied*, 459 U.S. 932 (1982).¹⁶

Respondent submits that the trial judge’s instructions correctly stated the law on voluntary manslaughter and are in accordance with the foregoing authorities, as well as the South

¹⁶ “Even when a person’s passion has been sufficiently aroused by a legally adequate provocation, if at the time of the killing those passions had cooled or a sufficiently reasonable time had elapsed so that the passions of the ordinary reasonable person would have cooled, the killing would be murder and not manslaughter.” *Knoten*, 347 S.C. at 303, 555 S.E.2d at 395. Whether an accused cooled off prior to a violent act must be determined by a review of all the circumstances surrounding the event and the people involved. *State v. Norris*, 253 S.C. 31, 35, 168 S.E.2d 564, 566 (1969).

Carolina Judicial Department's *Circuit Court Bench Book: Suggested Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases*, p. 212, which are available online at <http://www.sccourts.org/juryCharges/GS%20InstructionsJune2013.pdf>. However, Respondent this Court should deny certiorari, because the trial judge erred, as a matter of law, by submitting the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter to the jury in the absence of "sufficient legal provocation" by the victim. See *State v. Goodstein*, 278 S.C. 125, 128, 292 S.E.2d 791, 793 (1982) ("An appellate court ... is not, as a general rule, bound by the reasoning adopted below if the record discloses a correct result"); *State v. Gadsden*, 314 S.C. 229, 232, 442 S.E.2d 594, 597 (1994).¹⁷ Of particular importance to the issue before this Court, "[t]he exercise of a legal right, no matter how offensive to another, is never in law deemed a provocation sufficient to justify or mitigate an act of violence." *State v. Ivey*, 25 S.C. 137, 142, 481 S.E.2d 125, 127 (1997). Also, **marital infidelity** generally supports a charge of marital voluntary manslaughter "**only** when the killer finds the other spouse and paramour in a guilty embrace or flagrantly suggestive situation." *State v. Cooley*, 342 S.C. 63, 68, 536 S.E.2d 666, 668 (2000) (emphasis added); *State v. Gadsden*, 314 S.C. 229, 233, 442 S.E.2d 594, 597 (1994).

The evidence was conflicting over whether the victim and Beeks were even romantically involved at the time he killed her.¹⁸ Moreover, the evidence was that the victim and Beeks had two brief arguments earlier in the day of the homicide, over an unknown topic, at James Crawford's house. Beeks left after the second argument. While Beeks got mad at the time, there was no physical violence involved in the arguments. Rather, he only slung beer cans down on a

¹⁷ Alternatively, Respondent has addressed Beek's contentions in **Argument II**.

¹⁸ Faith Smith, the only person who lived with the victim, testified that he was living in the Atlanta, Georgia area; that the victim and he were no longer dating but, instead, were "friends; and that he did not even have a key to the apartment. **R. pp. 12-13; 17; 27-28**. Yet, other witnesses thought that they were still in a relationship.

coffee table near where the victim was seated, and both Beeks and Marsha were unharmed. **R. p. 50-52; 54; 62.**

Respondent submits that, as a matter of law, there was an adequate cooling off period because these two, very brief arguments apparently occurred roughly nine hours or more before the homicide.¹⁹ That there had been an adequate cooling of Beeks' passions is circumstantially demonstrated by evidence that the victim was apparently unconcerned and voluntarily returned to her apartment, alone, when he summoned her back that night. **R. p. 66, lines 13-24.**²⁰ Also, nothing in the record suggests that he was still drinking after the second argument and it is reasonable to infer that he did not drink because he threw down all the beer he had with him before leaving Crawford's residence.

As to the reason for arguments between the victim and Beeks, evidence was adduced that they occasionally argued about his drinking because he could be mean when he drank and she did not like that. **R. pp. 13; 35.** On the other hand, there was evidence that the victim had recently met a new man; that she intended to inform Beeks of this and to end her relationship with him. **R. pp. 60-63.** Granted, this is a circumstantial evidence case and Beeks was alone with the victim when he killed her. Further, his life-long friend, Darron Montgomery testified that there was a heated argument and that Beeks wanted her to "shut the f--- up."²¹ So, "he grabbed her by her neck and he thought he had choked her out but she was gone." However, Beeks did not tell Montgomery what the argument was about. **R. p. 94-96; 103.** Whether or not a heated argument may, under some circumstances constitute "sufficient legal provocation," it is

¹⁹ See, e.g., *Sandoval-Hernandez, State v. Sandoval-Hernandez*, 386 S.C. 655, 661-63, 690 S.E.2d 582, 585-86 (Ct. App. 2010); *Byrd*, 323 S.C. at 322-23, 474 S.E.2d at 432; *Walker*, 324 S.C. at 261, 478 S.E.2d at 281-82.

²⁰ Otherwise, this was evidence that he was lying in wait for her and is evidence of malice.

²¹ This description of his behavior is express evidence of malice.

clear that it did not in Beeks' case. To the contrary, **the only evidence** in the record about what caused Beeks to kill Marsha Smith was contained in his second statement to Det. Garrison. In that statement, Beeks said that he "snapped" when the victim told him that "she was seeing someone else. [A]fter hearing that, "[he] grabbed her, threw her to the floor and started choking her." **R. pp. 131-32.** There is no evidence, whatsoever, that the victim hit him, struggled physically with him, yelled at him, used vulgar or opprprious words, or that she did anything before Beeks strangled her - other than merely inform him of her intent to leave him.

In *State v. Smith*, 10 Rich. 341, 346, 1857 WL 3221, 3 (S.C. App.Law 1857), the Court quoted a California case for the following proposition:

[S]ome causes of passionate excitement are termed 'legal provocations,' while others have been declared not to be 'legal provocations.' This must not be understood to mean that a man has a legal right to be provoked, but only that the law regards certain offensive acts as provocations, while it refuses to consider others as such. The latter, though provocations in common parlance are not provocations in a legal sense, and therefore not comprehended in the legal phrase, *legal provocations.*"

(emphasis in online edition). That is precisely what is presently before this Court and what distinguishes the present case from other cases where courts have found that a "heated argument" supported an instruction on voluntary manslaughter: what caused Beeks to react violently was simply the victim's assertion of her legal right to leave Beeks and nothing more. *Accord State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 361, 535 S.E.2d 420, 424 (2000). *Contra State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489 (1998) (holding that evidence tended to show defendant acted in sudden heat of passion where defendant was in a heated argument with victim **and feared for his life because victim threatened him**);²² *State v. Lowry*, 315 S.C. 396, 434 S.E.2d 272 (1993); *State v.*

²² Beeks cites *Wiggins* for the proposition that "fear can constitute a basis for voluntary manslaughter." This is not a correct understanding of the law. As the Court explained in *Starnes*,

Gardner, 219 S.C. 97, 105, 64 S.E.2d 130, 134-135 (1951); *Davis*, 78 S.C. 544, 546, 298 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1983); *State v. Kahan*, 268 S.C. 240, 246-48, 233 S.E.2d 293 (1977).²³

Unless Beeks is taking the offensive and unsupportable position that a woman is viewed as chattel, *contra* U.S. Const. amend. XIII (“[n]either slavery nor involuntary servitude, except as a punishment for crime whereof the party shall have been duly convicted, shall exist within the United States, or any place subject to their jurisdiction”), Beeks could only be convicted or acquitted of murder because the victim’s exercise of her lawful right to terminate her relationship with him did not and could never constitute “sufficient legal provocation” to support a manslaughter charge. Therefore, it is unnecessary for this Court to address Beeks’ challenge to the trial judge’s definition of “sufficient legal provocation, since there was no evidence supporting a charge on voluntary manslaughter.

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